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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (IF KNOWN) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

The Louisiana State Bank stands at the north corner of Royal and Conti Streets in
New Orleans' Vieux Carre. Completed from Labrobe's design in 1822, it is sub-
stantially constructed with massive brick walls, finished on the outside with
ochre-colored stucco. The woodwork is all of cypress. The arches, vaults, and
dome of the first floor are solid brickwork, making the structure as nearly fire-
proof as possible. Alterations have been few and, except for that in the rear
courtyard, do not detract from the historic character of the bank.

The main edifice is composed of a high ground floor, an entresol defined by a
plain belt course and cornice, and a much lower second story. A wrought-iron
balcony runs across the three-bay facade (southeast) at that level, and another
is carried on the projecting middle section of the three-bay west elevation. A
third wrought-iron balcony follows the curve of the large semi-circular bay
centered on the rear wall. Semi-circular lights or blind arches cap the first-
floor doors and windows; simple label moldings, those on the second floor.
Slender Ionic columns decorate the front entrance; simple latticework, the
ground-story windows.

Structural evidence indicates that the paneled parapet originally concealed a
nearly flat roof and that the present hipped structure, broken on the northwest,
northeast, and southeast by dormers, was added at a much later date. Both roof
and dormers, the latter ornamented by pilasters and semi-circular pediments, are
sheathed in slate with terra cotta ridge and roof tiles. Cast-iron balls mounted
on the parapet and dormers are also additions. ’

The treatment of the first-floor rooms is extremely simple. Smooth white plaster
is applied directly to the solid masonry of the walls, arches, and domes. The
only purely decorative detail is a low-relief medallion at the center of the
vaulted saucer dome of the circular banking room. Display shelves now line the
large triplc windows set in deep vaulted recesses at either side of the room.

Temporary partitions have been installed in the groin-vaulted offices at the front
corners of the building (see accompanying floor plan). The semi-circular and half-
domed director's room and the rectangular strongroom, both to the rear of the
banking room, have undergone some alteration -- largely cosmetic -- to allow their
use as special exhibit areas.

Stairs at the west corner of the building give access to the second floor, designed
as living quarters for the bank's cashier. The center hall plan, unaltered except
for the installation of two bathrooms, is typical of New Orleans residences of the
period. A metal bridge leads from one of the eastern chambers to the building at
409 Royal Street, also occupied by the Manheim firm.
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__INVENTION

Benjamin H. Latrobe, architect

SPECIFIC DATES 1820, 1822 BUILDER/ARCHITECT Benjamin Fox, builder

STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The Louisiana State Bank is the last structure designed by Benjamin Henry Labrobe.
Though influenced to a degree by the pattern of its older neighbors in the Vieux
Carre, particularly in the arrangement of its second-floor cashier's residence and
rear carriage yard with slave quarters, the edifice is much more classic in feeling.
Handsome yet restrained, it compares favorably in character and detail with the
architect's work in Washington, Baltimore, and elsewhere.

HISTORY

The Louisiana State Bank, incorporated in 1818 was the first such institution
established in Louisiana after its admission to Statehood. The company's
president and directors promptly advertized a competition for design of a building;
its result is unknown.

Subsequently, the commission was awarded to Benjamin Henry Latrobe, who then had

the largest experience in bank design of any American architect. He had moved to
New Orleans in 1819 to complete the city's water works, left unfinished on the

death of his son, H.S.B. Latrobe, two years earlier. On August 10, 1820, the
directors announced the adoption of Latrobe's plan. He died less than a month later.

Local builder Benjamin Fox supervised construction of the bank at the north corner
of Royal and Conti Streets, then the city's financial center. The project was
completed in 1822 at a total cost, including land, of $55,000. The State Bank

“occupied the building until 1867, and three years later, on the expiration of its
charter, went out of business.

The Latrobe building served various commercial purposes until the early 1930's,
when Bernard Manheim leased it for use as an antiques gallery. A.G. Manheim, who
now operates the firm, acquired title to the property in the 1970's.
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Representation in Existing Surveys - continued

Vieux Carre Survey - 1966 - local

Tulane University Library
St. Charles Avenue
New Orleans, Louisiana
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At the rear of the property is the combined carriage house and slave quarters,
a two-story structure of stuccoed brick. A parapet conceals the western end
of its half-gable roof. The old courtyard is closed off from Conti Street by
a stuccoed brick wall, which curves downward from the bank and carriage house
to a central gate. This arrangement is again typical of New Orleans. The
paved yard and a carriageway along the northeast side of the bank were built
over at an unknown date, possibly in the nineteenth century. The present
structure, erected about 1974, incorporates office and workshop areas.

GPO 936.009
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Verbal Boundary Description

The boundaries of the national historic landmark designation for the Louisiana
State Bank Building (shown in red on the accompanying photocopy:Sanborn Map
Series, New Orleans, Plate 21A, dated 1963) are those of the property owned by
A. G. Manheim, comprising a city lot located at the northeast corner of Royal
and Conti Streets, numbered as 403 Royal and 701-717 Conti.

A portion of the bank's original carriageway is the site of a small commercial

structure, numbered as 407 Royal Street, and has been omitted from the landmark
boundary.
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